STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Dorchester County

Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

EDWARD PRIMO BONILLA,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001725

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 04 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by ruling appellant gave defense counsel his “informed consent” to reveal the location where the decedent’s body was located, since the testimony during the suppression hearing revealed defense counsel thought there was “no reasonable alternative” to his “strategy” to reveal the location of the body under the circumstances, and that appellant acquiesced in that strategy because he felt he had no alternative?

2.

Whether the court erred by ruling that the Dorchester County search warrant for the Hyundai Sonata was not legal defective, and that fruits of the search of it were admissible, where the vehicle was seized in Charleston County, a jurisdiction violation of S.C. Code § 17-13-140, and the affidavit did not provide probable cause to search pursuant to the Fourth Amendment?

3.

Whether the court erred by ruling that the Dorchester County search warrant for appellant’s Ford work van was not legal defective, and that fruits of the search of the van were admissible, where the vehicle was seized in Charleston County, a jurisdiction violation of S.C. Code § 17-13-140, and the seizure for the van for processing in Dorchester County exceeded the scope of any consent given in Charleston County to search through the van?

4.

Whether the court erred by refusing to grant the defense an in camera hearing on the qualifications of Investigator Jeff Scott to testify as a crime scene processing expert that the swabs he took from the automobile and the work van contained blood, since the court abdicated

its gatekeeping function where appellant was entitled to a hearing on Scott's qualifications and the reliability of his opinion evidence?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the Dorchester County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 621 – 622. His case was called to trial on Monday, August 8, 2016, before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. Assistant solicitors Donald Sorenson and Ryan Templeton represented the state. Russell D. Hilton and Mandy Kimmons represented appellant. R. 1.

On Thursday, August 11, 2016, the jury found appellant guilty. R. 616, l. 23 – 617, l. 3. Judge Early sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 620, ll. 14-16.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by ruling appellant gave defense counsel his “informed consent” to reveal the location where the decedent’s body was located, since the testimony during the suppression hearing revealed defense counsel thought there was “no reasonable alternative” to his “strategy” to reveal the location of the body under the circumstances, and that appellant acquiesced in that strategy because he reasonably felt he had no alternative under the circumstances.

### **Introduction**

Appellant met the decedent on an internet dating site. They went to a party and bonfire at the home of appellant’s brother on April 4, 2015. A couple of days later a missing person’s case was opened on the decedent. Appellant was later arrested for obstruction of justice, apparently because the police thought he was not forthcoming about his explanation of how the date with the decedent ended that evening. First Circuit public defender Mark Leindecker was appointed to represent appellant on the obstruction of justice charge. R. 8, l. 10 – 9, l. 9.

On April 15, 2015, a Dorchester County magistrate issued two search warrants, that appellant’s trial attorney argued were illegal. One for the 2005 Hyundai Sonata appellant was driving on the night of the date. The Sonata was located in Charleston County. In addition, the search warrant, which admittedly provided incorrect times regarding appellant’s whereabouts in the early morning hours of April 4, 2015, alleged that appellant was seen on videotape at a Sunoco gas station in Ladson with the decedent in the early morning hours, and that appellant was no longer “cooperating in the investigation. It is the affiant’s belief that something harmful has happened to Ms. Peagram.” R. 628.

The Dorchester County magistrate also issued a search warrant for appellant's Ford work van. Appellant worked the RW Cauble flooring company in North Charleston, South Carolina where the van was located. This search warrant alleged that the business owner gave consent to search the van and that substances in the back of the van tested "presumptive for human blood." R. 629 – 635. The search warrants were executed in Charleston County on the Hyundai and the van. Both returns showed the warrants were executed on April 16, 2015. R. 626 – 627; r. 632 – 635.

Defense counsel would later argue that the search warrants were illegal pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-13-140 because they were issued in Dorchester County and executed in Charleston County. The trial judge at one point agreed this was improper under S.C. Code § 17-13-140 but later ruled the searches were legal under the automobile exception, and State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 649 S.E.2d 479 (2007). R. 82, l. 18 – 83, l. 10.

### **Relevant Facts**

A pre-trial hearing was held on the issue of whether appellant gave "informed consent" to his prior attorney, Mark Leiendecker, on May 8, 2015 to tell the police where the decedent's body was located. Defense counsel Hilton argued under Rule 1.6 -- on attorney-client confidentiality, Rule 407, SCACR, that a hearing was required on the "informed consent" issue, and the voluntariness of that consent. Defense counsel also noted it was obvious that prior counsel Leiendecker could no longer represent appellant because he was a key witness who would have to testify. Rule 1.6(a) states: "A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent . . ." There was no allegation in the present case that any of the exceptions contained in Rule 1.6(b) of Rule 407, SCACR applied in this case. R. 2, l. 12 – 4, l. 3.

Counsel Leiendecker testified during the suppression hearing that he was a former part-time magistrate in Dorchester County before he became the Circuit Public Defender in 2008. R. 8, l. 10 – 9, l. 15. Appellant was first arrested for obstruction of justice, and then the charges were upgraded to murder. On **May 8, 2015**, twenty-four days after the search warrants were executed in Charleston County -- that present defense counsel argued were illegal -- on the Hyundai Sonata and the work van, Counsel Leiendecker revealed to the police where appellant told him he had hidden the decedent's body. R. 9, ll. 16-19.

Defense counsel testified that he could not recall whether he discussed with appellant disclosing the location of the decedent's body to the police on May 8, 2015, or before that date. R. 9, l. 16 – 10, l. 23. Defense counsel offered that he thought appellant should have understood the purpose of their meeting that day at the criminal investigative division located in a trailer behind the sheriff's office. They met in a small conference room privately. R. 10, l. 14 – 11, l. 21.

Counsel Leiendecker importantly clarified “before Edward and I met that day, *I did not have the information I provided to the Dorchester County sheriff's office.*” R. 11, ll. 16-21. (emphasis added). Defense counsel said as a matter of “strategy” it was decided to reveal to the police where the decedent's body was buried in a wooded area. R. 12, ll. 7-11.

Leiendecker said that appellant showed him on his iPad, a map, where the decedent's body could be found. R. 12, ll. 15-25.

Apparently counsel Leiendecker did all the talking with law enforcement on May 8, 2015, appellant “did not speak to anybody in the sheriff's office that I remember.” R. 13, ll. 1-4. Counsel met with appellant in the sheriff's office conference room for twenty to forty minutes,

and they “talked about the reasons that may be helpful or beneficial to his defense [to reveal the location of the body].” R. 13, l. 12 – 14, l. 7.

When defense counsel Hilton asked Leiendecker if there was any reasonable alternatives that he could have conveyed to appellant other than revealing the location of the decedent’s body, defense counsel answered: “I don’t remember that. I remember that the discussion of **my strategy** for [and] the reason that it might be **beneficial** to his case if that’s what you’re talking about. **And there was no reasonable alternative to that purpose.**” R. 14, ll. 2-14 (emphasis added). Leiendecker made the disclosure to Captain Phinney. He said he felt appellant was “on board with this disclosure and the reasons why it was beneficial to him.” R. 14, ll. 8-21.

The judge then questioned Leiendecker:

Q. What were those beneficial strategies that you anticipated receiving if you made the disclosure?

A. Your Honor, the only reason or purpose for this disclosure was so that an autopsy could be performed on the body, and without the location of the body that would’ve been impossible. Without going further into any legal discussions or strategy, that was the purpose. Now, if Your Honor wants further detail and you direct me to answer that, I guess I would have to.

Q. Did you discuss with him the potential harm of disclosing the location of the body? I.e. what he would be faced with, charged with? What was he charged with at that time?

A. At that point, Your Honor, he was already charged with murder. And we did discuss how he had been charged with murder without the victim's body having been found. And as Edward and I discussed, it related to evidentiary issues provided in discovery from the Dorchester County Sheriff and/or Solicitor's office that included DNA locations that were solely under the control of Edward.

Q. So, specifically, what harmful consequences did you discuss with him of the disclosure, if any?

- A. The obvious fact that it would be difficult or impossible for him to deny that he knew what happened to Ms. Pegram following their separation on the night in question when they had been together; that it would put him at the scene of what was alleged to be a murder; and that it would open him up even in a best case scenario to other charges including possible charge of desecration of human remains.

R. 15, l. 4 – 16, l. 7. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination by Counsel Leindecker's attorney, Mr. Murphy, counsel offered "I was confident and felt firmly convinced that Edward was not only giving me truthful information, but that he understood I was going to reveal that to Captain Phinney, and that I had his consent to do it." R. 17, l. 19 – 18, l. 6. Leindecker said he continued to represent appellant until the first of the year, when it became clear he had a conflict because he was a witness. R. 18, ll. 12-22.

Appellant also testified during the suppression hearing. Appellant said he was arrested on the night of April 15, 2015, the day the search warrant was issued in Dorchester County. R. 20, ll. 14-22. Appellant testified that he told Leindecker "my story of what happened. That was in our first meeting. Appellant said his second meeting was at the courthouse after he was charged with murder, and the third meeting was at the CID office at the jail the day the location of the body was disclosed. R. 21, l. 3 – 22, l. 8. The following occurred on direct examination of appellant:

Q. And did that conversation, was it regarding the disclosure of the body?

A. It was -- from what I remember from that phone call conversation is I remember just giving my cell -- after I disclosed to him, told him the story of everything that happened, I really was not aware that he was actually going to do go to the detectives and tell them, you know, I have this information.

Q. All right. Well, pause a second because I want to focus on that telephone conversation, okay. We're gonna get to the other part.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But tell me about the telephone conversation. What was the discussion there regarding disclosure of the body?

A. Okay. I remember coming out of my cell and going up to the front where the booking area is. Mr. Leiendecker made a very -- to the CO's there, made it clear that he wanted a private line; one that was not, you know, was not recorded, and he wanted me to speak to him in privacy. So they took me from the booking area to -- I would assume it was someone's office. So I talked to him on that line. *And basically told me the detectives were on their way to come pick me up to take me to the CID unit to disclose the location of the body.* During that conversation, I, you know, I was kind of distraught, you know, a little confused that this was already happening. **Because, honestly, I believe I did not give him permission to do this or was under the impression that he was going to do this. It was through that conversation that I found out that this was happening. And, you know, that's when -- I can understand through the conversation that we had that it was not something that I really had knowledge that was going to happen.**

R. 22, l. 1 – 23, l. 8 (emphasis added).

The following also occurred between defense counsel Hilton and appellant:

Q. Okay. Did he talk about the ramifications of disclosing the body?

A. He just told me the benefits. You know, when I think back, there were these benefits of what this was and, you know, pretty much I don't want to say he backed me into a corner to do this *because I already felt as if this was already in motion.* And for him to go there and tell him this and then me to say, "I didn't do this," or, you know, it just didn't seem -- it just didn't seem like the right thing that was going on, or ---

THE COURT: What was not the right thing?

THE WITNESS: For me just to back out and say, "I don't know where the body is." *If he's already gone to them and told them, you know, "I do know where the location is," and, you know, I felt like I had no choice to be honest, Your Honor.*

R. 24, l. 24 – 25, l. 14. (emphasis added).

Appellant said he thought he had been backed into a corner because he told his attorney "If I can't make you believe what happened with this situation then how am I going to be able to convince a jury." R. 25, l. 16 – 26, l. 1. The following also occurred on direct examination of appellant:

Q. And the question that I had for you was at any point in time did you agree with him that it was the best course of action?

A. *If I did agree with it, I was not aware that that came out of my mouth. Because like I said, I gave him the information of what everything happened because at the time he was my attorney. And, you know, just with you as well, I told my story, said everything that happened. And then after that, you know, it was probably maybe a week or so after that meeting, that's when I was getting called downstairs with the telephone conversation with him. And that's when, you know, he basically told me that the detectives were on their way to come get me.*

R. 26, ll. 2-14. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, appellant said he did not remember Leiendecker telling him the possible detriments to revealing the location of the body to the police. Appellant repeated he felt like he had been backed into a corner by the defense counsel, and "I just felt like if he had already went to them and told them this, that it would just be bad for me to deny any of it after he's already spoken to the detectives about this." Appellant also said by the time of his meeting where the location of the body would be disclosed, appellant said: "I didn't have many questions

at that point.” Appellant said under the circumstances described above, he was “on board” with disclosing the information. R. 28, l. 6 – 29, l. 15.

Judge Early then ruled that the issues were whether appellant consented to the disclosure, and whether his consent was informed consent. R. 30, ll. 2-11. The judge cited McClure v. Thompson, 323 F.3d. 1233 (9th Cir. 2003) as instructive on the issue of “informed consent.” The judge said this case was a roadmap for his ruling. The judge ruled appellant gave informed consent and that defense counsel Leiendecker did not violate Rule 1.6(a), of the Rules of Professional Responsibility. The judge suggested, given his ruling that the parties stipulate to the fact that the location of the body was disclosed to the prosecution by the defense. This would prevent the necessity of counsel Leiendecker testifying. R. 30, l. 2 – 31, l. 5.

Once the judge ruled that appellant agreed to disclosure of the locations of the decedent’s body after giving “informed consent” the court correctly assured defense counsel that he was “protected” in entering into the stipulation, R. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 25:

AST. SOL. SORENSON: The stipulation is that attorney Mark Leiendecker is the Chief Public Defender in Dorchester County. Originally, Mr. Leiendecker was appointed to represent Mr. Bonilla in this case. On May the 8th of 2015, attorney Mark Leiendecker contacted Captain Tony Phinney and informed Captain Phinney that his client may have information about the location of the remains of Ashley Pegram. The defendant was transported to the Criminal Investigations Office so that he could meet with Mr. Leiendecker. After Mr. Leiendecker and Mr. Bonilla met for approximately 20 minutes, Mr. Leiendecker met with Captain Phinney with an electronic notebook displaying a map. Mr. Leiendecker gave a general location of where they would discover the body of Ashley Pegram near Brown Town Road and Seven Mile Road in Harleyville, South Carolina. This disclosure

was made by Mr. Leiendecker with the consent of Mr. Bonilla.

R. 259, l. 19 – 260, l. 10.

### **The Autopsy Report**

Dr. Nicholas Batalis, the pathologist, testified that the decedent was found “nude from the abdomen down.” She had black electrical tape “on the body that was out of the ordinary. One was around the right wrist. There was some black electrical tape that was wrapped around the wrist. R. 373, ll. 2-25.

There was tape “that was wrapped around the neck of the decedent when I examined the body.” “To remove the tape, I then made a cut through it . . .” R. 377, ll. 9-13. Doing a sexual assault protocol was “[n]ot possible to do in this case because all of the tissue, the anus, the vagina, all of that tissue around there was absent.” R. 380, ll. 3-20.

The body was badly decomposed but Dr. Batalis said “there were fractures on both sides of the thyroid cartilage. And that is an injury that we will see somewhat commonly in manual strangulation or if there was some sort of severe blunt force trauma to the neck.” The body was “suspicious for injuries in the scalp.” R. 382, ll. 2-23. Dr. Batalis opined the decedent was killed by “homicidal violence.” Dr. Batalis said the decedent’s death was the result of violence against her, he again noted the electrical tape, blunt force injuries, bleeding into the scalp, suspicions of asphyxia, “and the scalp defect.” R. 387, l. 5 – 390, l. 7.

### **How the Disclosure Further Played**

In his closing argument, the solicitor told the jury that that the defense had an ulterior motive in having appellant’s prior lawyer, Mark Leiendecker, tell the police where the decedent’s body could be located. “This is through the lawyer not Mr. Bonilla telling law enforcement this. And I can only kind of guess that, you know, a little bit of the story his former

lawyer had involved, you know, I hit her with a car [accidentally]. I mean, if we help you find the body, *hopefully we'll find evidence when they do the autopsy that's going to support that; that's going to support your story* and then we can maybe try to work this thing out. Well, I can't even imagine the surprise when, you know, *the autopsy reports come back and she's not clothed. She's got multiple injuries to her head. She's got black electrical tape wrapped around her neck and around her wrist.*" The solicitor said appellant and the defense put the family through five weeks of "absolute hell," with appellant's lies. R. 604, l. 8 – 605, l. 6. (emphasis added).

Addressing the jury after the verdict, the judge said: "I commend the jury for their courage in seeing through the fabricated story, in my opinion, that was presented by the defendant. I found his testimony to be highly incredible, void of any truth." R. 619, ll. 16-22.

### **Other Trial Evidence**

Appellant's cell phone was seized from the company van pursuant to the search warrant. Dorchester investigator Adam Smith testified that appellant sent a text message to his boss on April 4, 2015 at 4:53 a.m. -- after his date with the decedent -- stating that he was sick, and that he would not be in that day. Smith also testified that appellant sent his employer another text message at 6:38 a.m. on Monday, April 6, 2015, saying he was still sick but that he would be in to work the next day. R. 305, ll. 6-24.

Smith further testified that appellant's brother apparently sent him a message on April 3, 2015 at 7:37 in the evening -- before the bonfire party -- that he had marijuana. R. 306, l. 8 – 307, l. 11. The cell phone seized from the work truck also revealed on April 3, 2015 at 9:23 p.m. that appellant was near the decedent's residence. R. 313, ll. 9-16.

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