STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Dorchester County
The Honorable Doyet A. Earley, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

EDWARD PRIMO BONILLA,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001725

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. PASCOE
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit
140 N. Main St., Suite 102
Summerville, South Carolina 29483
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 04 2018

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

In the instant case, it was reasonably prudent for officers to believe evidence of a crime would be found in the Sonata. Investigators knew Bonilla was the last person seen with the

victim as late as midnight on the night she disappeared. The victim was also seen getting into the car the police sought to search. Bonilla made several inconsistent and not credible statements about where he left Ashley when he dropped her off on the side of the road. (R. p. 67, lines 9-21.) Significantly relevant to the automobile exception, the officers found the car at an Enterprise Rent-A-Car lot, which certainly gives rise to a reasonable inference that Bonilla and his mother were trying to conceal evidence. Therefore, upon finding the Sonata, the officers had probable cause to seize the car at that time. In an effort to protect the integrity of the investigation, they chose to impound the vehicle in Dorchester County and obtain a warrant from a Dorchester County magistrate. The trial court, in finding the officers committed no Fourth Amendment violation and denying Bonilla's motion to suppress the evidence found in the Sonata, did not abuse its discretion.

II(b). Officers obtained the consent of the owner to search and seize the Econoline van. Officers also had probable cause to seize the van because Bonilla was seen returning the van the day following the victim's disappearance, Bonilla was last seen with the victim, Bonilla lied about his employment, and stains in the van field tested positive for blood.

The record clearly reflects Bonilla had no ownership or control of the Econoline van. Robert Cauble was Bonilla's employer and the owner of Cauble Flooring. (R. p. 49, lines 1-20.) Cauble owned several vans for his business, which he would allow his employees to drive home only on occasion. (R. p. 152, lines 19-23.) Detective Martin called Cauble to discuss Bonilla's employment and to ask Cauble if he could look at the vans Bonilla used. (R. p. 157, line 3 – p. 158, line 7.) As the owner of the vans, Cauble consented, signing a release indicating he agreed to the search and possible seizure of the property. (R. p. 168, lines 4-8; 628.)

Bonilla's argument that the warrant obtained from Dorchester County somehow invalidated Cauble's consent and violated Bonilla's Fourth Amendment rights is nonsensical. As discussed earlier, Bonilla had no expectation of privacy in a van owned by his employer and used by all the employees as a floater van when needed. Even so, officers obtained Cauble's consent before searching the van at Cauble Flooring, and then taking the van to Dorchester County where it could be more thoroughly searched and documented. After obtaining Cauble's consent, the officers did not need probable cause to search and seize the van without a warrant pursuant to the automobile exception, but probable cause certainly existed at this point. Bonilla, who was last seen with the victim, lied about his employment. Bonilla was also seen on Cauble's surveillance video taking the van home the night of the murder and then suspiciously returning it later Saturday night, after telling his employer he was too sick to work that day. Further, when officers performed a field test for blood on some of the stains in the back of the vans, the swabs tested presumptively positive for blood. At that point, it was reasonably prudent for officers to believe evidence of a crime would be found in the Econoline driven by Bonilla on the night of Ashley's disappearance. Given Bonilla's attempts to conceal his employment with Cauble and Bonilla's after-hours access to the Cauble Flooring van fleet, it was even more practical for the officers to seize the van to preserve any evidence that might be van and move it to the sheriff's impound lot in Dorchester County. To err on the side of caution, officers then obtained a search warrant to perform the more exhaustive search of the van.

The officers went above and beyond that necessary to preserve the integrity of their investigation. Bonilla, who is not entitled to Fourth Amendment protection in Cauble's van, cannot argue the evidence found in the van should be suppressed simply because a magistrate in

Dorchester County issued the warrant rather than a Charleston County magistrate. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to suppress the evidence found in the Econoline van.

III. Appellant objected to the admission of crime scene photos, not the crime scene investigator's testimony about the results of the field tests or his qualifications to perform them, so the issue is unpreserved. Because Appellant did not object to the crime scene investigator's testimony, the photographs, though not objectionable, were merely cumulative (Appellant's Issue IV).

Bonilla did not request an *in camera* hearing on the qualifications of Investigator Jeff Scott or on the reliability of the field tests performed on the vehicles. Instead, Bonilla objected only to the introduction of photographs depicting the field tests results. Bonilla made no objection to Scott's testimony of his findings or on his qualifications. This issue is not preserved for review.

Bonilla's Objections at Trial

Prior to the introduction of several photographs of the back of the van, Appellant objected to the specific photos that illustrated the "opinion" testimony of Detective Jeff Scott, who he presumed would testify the field tests for blood in the back of the van were positive. (R. p. 193, lines 7-12.) Appellant said Scott would give his opinion testimony, based on an experiment from a field test in the van. (R. p. 193, lines 14-16.) Appellant claimed the testimony was more prejudicial than probative. (R. p. 193, lines 22-23.) The trial court attempted to clarify the basis of Appellant's objection during the following exchange:

MR. HILTON: I don't have a general list. It's so many pictures. And the issue is that I presume Jeff Scott, the crime scene detective, is going to get up here and testify that this was the van, this was swabs taken from – these were swabs taken from the van. And that certain of these swabs are going to test positive for blood. And he's saying that some of them don't test positive for blood. And the issue is he's giving his opinion testimony, would be giving his opinion testimony, based on an experiment essentially that he's done from a field test in the van. And I don't

think that in this particular case where you have got another substance that looks strikingly like blood that he can get up and testify, in his opinion, based on some field test that this is blood, this is not blood, this is blood, this is not blood. And then presumably say it's Ashley Pegram blood. I think that's more prejudicial than probative.

THE COURT: Well, I doubt he's gonna say it's Ashley Pegram's blood. He's not qualified to do that.

MR. HILTON: Well, that's certainly going to be the inference of his testimony. And I agree, they're going to have to connect that through the DNA, but that will ultimately be proved. And, ultimately, they're going to say that all of this blood is Ashley Pegram's when the only thing we have is some field test. And I don't think that he's -- that Detective Scott, without an evidentiary hearing on the scientific reliability of his evidence, is going to be able to say with any degree of scientific certainty that this is even blood.

THE COURT: I don't know what he's going to say.

MR. HILTON: Well, that would be our objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You're objecting to the pictures, the photographs?

MR. HILTON: Yes, sir.

(R. p. 193, line 7 – p. 194, line 16.) The court reserved ruling on the admissibility of the photos until Scott testified. (R. p. 194, lines 17-22, p. 195, lines 7-9.)

Scott's Testimony

Investigator Jeff Scott testified he had been employed with the Dorchester County Sherriff's Department since 2015, and worked for the Colleton County Sherriff's Office before that. (R. p. 196, line 5 – p. 197, line 6.) Scott worked as a crime scene investigator in both counties since 2006. (R. p. 197, lines 12-23.) Scott has received numerous instances of on the job training, as well as attended several classes at the Criminal justice Academy on blood stain analysis, homicide investigation classes, and photography classes. (R. p. 197, line 21 – p. 198, line 5.) Scott described how he became involved with Bonilla's case, after Detective Martin

asked him to investigate the Ford Econoline van at Cauble Flooring. (R. p. 198, line 15 – p. 199, line 25.)

When the State offered the photographs of the van into evidence, Appellant objected to the admission, claiming the photo offered “a scientific test without proper foundation.” (R. p. 200, lines 5-14.) The court overruled the objection, saying “He hasn’t offered anything, a scientific test or anything else.” (R. p. 200, lines 15-16.) The solicitor then asked Scott to explain how he processed the van. (R. p. 201, lines 19-20.) Scott described the work-related equipment and floor staining products found in the back of the van. (R. p. 202, line 14 – p. 203, line 3.) The solicitor then went on to ask Scott whether a field test existed to determine whether a stain at a crime scene was blood, and Scott described their use of O-Tolidine reagent, which is used as an indicator of blood. (R. p. 203, lines 4-22.) Scott then explained that if a sample tests presumptively positive for blood, the stain is sent to SLED for further DNA testing. (R. p. 203, line 23 – p. 204, line 2.) Scott said he tested four suspected stains in the Ford van, and one of the four tested presumptively positive for blood. (R. p. 205, line 22 – p. 208, line 20.) Scott testified that after the fourth stain reacted positively for blood, the investigators stopped processing the van and secured the vehicle for transport to Dorchester County where they could perform more tests. (R. p. 208, line 21 – p. 209, line 3.) Scott said the investigators looked inside the GMC van and found no apparent blood stains, but they did remove a cell phone from the center console of the van. (R. p. 210, lines 1-16.) At no point during this portion of Scott’s testimony did Appellant object to the description of the testing for blood or to Scott’s results. (R. pp. 205-213.)

Scott testified he was later asked to process a Hyundai Sonata. (R. p. 213, lines 3-9.) Again, when the State attempted to introduce photographs of the Sonata and the vehicle’s processing, Appellant again objected, on “the basis of introduction of essentially a scientific test

without any sort of hearing on whether it was proper or not.” (R. p. 213, line 6 – p. 214, line 12.) Bonilla again made it clear he objected to the photograph of the test results, not Scott’s testimony about the results:

MR. HILTON: Your Honor, specifically with regard to all of the exhibits except State's 25 that would be subject to the previous objection that I made.

THE COURT: State's 25?

MR. HILTON: With regard to State's 25, I would object to that one on a similar basis.

(R. p. 214, lines 3-8.) Again, the court allowed the admission of all but one photograph, electing to rule on that photograph after the State developed more testimony. (R. p. 214, lines 14-19.)

Investigators found blood stains in the trunk of the Sonata. (R. p. 217, line 2 – p. 218, line 7.) Scott said they repeated the O-Tolidine field test and then performed a more specialized test called a hexagon test. (R. p. 218, lines 14-17.) Scott described the hexagon test, and then the State offered the photograph of the results of the hexagon test on the stain from the trunk. (R. p. 220, lines 4-9.) Appellant again objected to the photo on the “basis of no foundation. *State versus Council.*” (R. p. 220, lines 10-11.) The solicitor asked more foundational questions about the use of the hexagon test and the court allowed the photograph over Appellant’s objection. (R. p. 220, line 15 – p. 222, line 1.)

Scott found presumptive blood stains on numerous items in the back of the van and on the floor of the van after the items were removed. (R. pp. 229-232.) Appellant again objected to the introduction of photographs showing the result of a third test called the leucocrystal violet test, which detects a pattern of suspected blood stains by first spraying a liquid and then

illuminating the area with a special light. (R. p. 251, line 1 – p. 254, line 3.) The trial court again overruled Bonilla’s objection. (R. p. 254, lines 1-3.)

This Issue is Not Preserved

The reliability of Scott’s testimony concerning the reliability of the field tests he performed is not preserved for review. Whether Scott was sufficiently qualified to perform those tests is not preserved for review. Appellant claims defense counsel objected to Scott’s offer of opinion scientific evidence without an evidentiary hearing (IBOA at 30), but that was not the basis of the objection.

“An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 120–21, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997). “Where an objection and the ground therefore is not stated in the record, there is no basis for appellate review.” *State v. Morris*, 307 S.C. 480, 485, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct.App.1991). A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve issues for direct appellate review. *State v. King*, 334 S.C. 504, 514 S.E.2d 578 (1999).

What Bonilla actually objected to was the admission of the photographs showing the results of the field tests. During Scott’s testimony about the results of the O-Tolidine test, Appellant failed to offer a contemporaneous objection to the testimony on his findings. By the time the State sought to introduce photos of the swabs indicating a presumptively positive test result, Scott had already testified three of the swabs tested negatively and one tested presumptively positive for blood. (R. pp. 205-213.)

Appellant never challenged Scott’s qualifications to inform the jury of the field tests for blood. However, Scott testified about his extensive experience. Scott worked at the Dorchester County criminal investigations division for approximately 1.5 years until he transferred to the

crime scene division. (R. p. 196, lines 15-19.) Before he worked for Dorchester County, Scott worked for the Colleton County Sheriff's Office for many years as a criminal investigator. (R. p. 197, lines 1-20.) Scott had numerous instances of on the job training and had taken several classes at the Criminal Justice Academy. (R. p. 197, line 21 – p. 259, line 5.) Scott went on to describe in detail how he photographed and documented the vehicles. (R. p. 201, line 21 – p. 202, line 6.) Scott also explained the O-Tolidine blood reagent kit, and how stains that tested presumptive positive for blood would be sent to SLED for DNA analysis. (R. p. 203, line 13 – p. 204, line 6.) Scott then testified about numerous stains that did not test positive for blood. (R. p. 205, line 22 – p. 207, line 21.) Despite the Scott's extensive experience as a crime scene investigator, the State need not have qualified Scott as an expert because Scott did not testify as an expert offering an opinion. Instead, Scott testified as a fact witness for the State when he described how he processed the scene, as well as the tests he performed.

While a challenge to the reliability of evidence generally goes to weight and not admissibility, the trial court acts as a gatekeeper in vetting its reliability and deeming the testimony admissible. *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012). If the proffered testimony is scientific in nature, then the circuit court must determine its reliability per the factors set forth in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999). Under *Council*, the court must consider the following: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” *Id.* at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517. Because Appellant did not properly object to the admissibility of the testimony about the O-Tolidine, hexagon, and

leucocrystal violet, the trial court did not rule upon whether each of these tests satisfied the *Council* factors for admissibility.

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